FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/9/2021 4:35 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/10/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99876-1

Court of Appeals No. 79808-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAGUNA CREEK CALIFORNIA PARTNERS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and LAGUNA CREEK ADMINISTRATION, INC., a Washington corporation

Respondents,

٧.

INTRODUCTION

Appellants "Brenia" are 31 of the original 39 investors using single-use limited liability companies (LLC's) to invest in a 160-unit apartment complex located in Elk Grove California. In 2017, Respondents "Laguna" sued Brenia, asserting breach of contract and damages. Brenia asserted numerous counterclaims including breach of contract, breach of the Washington State Securities Act (WSSA), ch. 21.20 RCW, and CPA violations. The trial court dismissed some Brenia claims on summary judgment, reserving others. Months later it issued a second summary judgment order purporting to dismiss "all" remaining Brenia claims, though Laguna had not raised six (of eleven). Later still, the court dismissed Laguna's remaining claims. All the while, the parties and the court worked toward entry of a "final judgment."

Laguna eventually proposed a final judgment and "findings" that the matter was already final. The court agreed, so Brenia timely appealed that order. But the appellate court ruled the appeal untimely and refused to extend time under this Court's decision in *Denney*, *infra. Laguna v. Brenia*, Court of Appeals No. 79808-1-I (May 10, 2021). Both decisions are incorrect and conflict with numerous controlling cases. This Court should accept review and reverse.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court recently held in *Denney v. City of Richland* that a summary judgment order disposing of all claims, but anticipating the entry of a "final judgment" on costs, created reasonable confusion as to which was the final appealable judgment. 195 Wn.2d 649, 659-60, 462 P.3d 842 (2020). Under *Denney* (and others), is an extension of time warranted here, where three orders combined to dispose of all claims (assuming *arguendo* that one of those orders disposed of claims that were not raised), still four more orders were arguably "final," and the parties and the court continued working toward the "final judgment"?

Where Laguna's second summary judgment motion pertained to only five of Brenia's eleven remaining claims, and where it is reversible error for a trial court to dismiss claims on summary judgment that are not raised in the pending motion, did Brenia timely appeal from the subsequent order entering incorrect findings of fact that the court's second summary judgment order actually dismissed "all" remaining Brenia claims? And if Brenia had to appeal from the summary judgment order itself, does the trial court's extraordinary act warrant an extension of time?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Given the nature of this petition, the relevant facts are entirely procedural. They are set forth in the Introduction above and in the Arguments below. For additional context, Brenia refers this Court to the appellate opinion.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The appellate decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Denney v. City of Richland* and others from this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

In **Denney**, this Court extended time for filing the notice of appeal when counsel appealed from the judgment on costs, not the summary judgment order finally resolving all legal claims. The rationale was simply that the summary judgment order anticipated entry of a "final judgment," so confusion was reasonable. Confusion was just as reasonable, if not more so, here. This Court should accept review and reverse.

"The appellate court will only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice extend the time within which a party must file a notice of appeal" RAP 18.8.(b); **Shumway v. Payne**, 136 Wn.2d 383, 394-95, 964 P.2d 349 (1998). "Extraordinary circumstances' include instances where the filing, despite reasonable diligence, was defective due to excusable

error or circumstances beyond the party's control." *Shumway*, 136 Wn.2d at 395 (quoting *Hoirup v. Empire Airways, Inc.*, 69 Wn. App. 479, 482, 848 P.2d 1337 (1993)). In its most recent application of this rule, this Court granted an extension of time, reversing the appellate court. *Denney*, 195 Wn.2d at 659-60. Since that decision, this Court took the extraordinary step of suspending RAP 18.8(b) due to the COVID-19 pandemic, ruling that motions for extension of time that would be governed by RAP 18.8(b) "will be decided in accordance with the 'ends of justice' standard set forth in RAP 18.8(a). Order No. 25700-BN-659 Suspending RAP 18.8(b) (2/22/2021).

In *Denney*, firefighter Christopher Denney sued the City of Richland alleging Public Records Act violations.195 Wn.2d at 651. Both Denney and the City moved for summary judgment, and the trial court granted the City's motion, ruling that the requested records were exempted from disclosure. *Id.* at 651-52. The order: (1) granted the City's motion; (2) denied Denney's motion; (3) "dismissed with prejudice" "[a]Il claims and causes of action alleged by plaintiff"; and (4) stated that the City was "the prevailing party herein and may present judgment accordingly." *Id.* The City did so, and the Court entered a judgment awarding the City \$200 in costs. *Id.* at 652. Denney then filed a notice of appeal within two weeks of the final

judgment, but more than 30 days after the summary judgment order was entered. *Id.*

The appellate court *sua sponte* set Denney's appeal for dismissal as untimely. *Id.* Denney argued the 30-day limitation for filing the notice of appeal ran from the judgment, not the summary judgment order, alternatively seeking an extension of time "based on the extraordinary circumstance that the [summary judgment] order was misleading." *Id.* The appellate court disagreed, dismissing Denney's appeal save for the \$200 cost award. *Id.*

This Court accepted review and reversed in part, holding that Denney's appeal warranted an extension of time. *Id.* at 660. This Court held that the summary judgment order was a "final judgment" on "the merits," defined as the "last action that settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy, except for the award of costs" and sometimes fees, or "a judgement ... that eliminates the litigation between the parties," leaving nothing else for the trial court to do except enforce the judgment. *Id.* at 654. As such, the summary judgment order was the appealable order regardless of whether it reserved fees or costs for future determination. RAP 2.2(a)(1). Denney's failure to appeal within 30 days from the

summary judgment order, rendered his appeal was untimely.

**Denney*, 195 Wn.2d at 660.

But this Court held that CR 54 introduced "confusion" into the appellate rules so extraordinary that "treating [the] appeal as untimely would be a miscarriage of justice." 195 Wn.2d at 659. CR 54 directs the prevailing party to "prepare and present a proposed form of order or judgment not later than 15 days after the entry of the verdict or decision." *Id.* at 657 (quoting CR 54(e)). "CR 54's process promotes uniformity and lessens the potential for confusion stemming from multiple final judgments." *Id.* at 658. Its aim is to prevent the bar from having to act as "soothsayers" divining finality:

"As a practical matter, the bar should not have to act as soothsayers to determine when a written trial court opinion or decision might be a final judgment. For the sake of uniformity, the better practice is to follow CR 54; the prevailing party should submit a proposed judgment, decree or order, with appropriate notice and service upon the opposing party. All parties are then aware of the status of the proceeding and can consider the applicability of postjudgment motions such as motions for reconsideration, CR 59(b), appeals under RAP 2.2, and other time-limited procedures hinging upon entry of judgment."

Id. at 657-58 (quoting Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. City of Kennewick, 99 Wn.2d 225, 231, 661 P.2d 133 (1983) (quoting Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. City of Kennewick, 31 Wn. App. 777, 783, 644

P.2d 1196 (1982), *rev'd*, 99 Wn.2d 225 (1983))). Thus, this Court held that Denney reasonably (though mistakenly) interpreted the judgment, not the summary judgment order, to be the final judgment from which to appeal, and that his error justified an extension of time. *Denney*, 195 Wn.2d at 660.

This Court concluded with the warning to future appellants that summary judgment orders may be final and appealable, regardless of pending fees:

[We] caution future, similarly situated appellants that our appellate rules establish the correct procedure on review: a summary judgment order disposing of all substantive legal issues can constitute a final, appealable judgment regardless of a subsequent attorney fees award. As *Washington Practice* advises, "counsel should appeal from the judgment on the merits, even if the issue of attorney fees is still pending."

Id. at 659 (quoting 2A Tegland, WASH. PRAC.: RULES PRAC., RAP 2.4, at 198 (8th ed. 2014)). Brenia did not have the benefit of this warning as this Court decide **Denney** after appellate briefing was complete. For the same reason, the appellate court did not have the benefit of briefing, though Brenia brought **Denney** to the court's attention.

The appellate court declined to apply *Denney*, holding "Brenia does not benefit from the same confusion" Op. at 17. Here, as in

Denney, the orders at issue dismissed all causes of action¹ and identified the substantially prevailing party, though here, it took three orders to get there:

- The April summary judgment order resolves some Laguna causes of action, dismisses some Brenia causes of action, and leaves others in the case. CP 1973-85. It provides that Laguna is the "substantially prevailing party" entitled to fees at the end of the case. CP 1980. This order plainly is not a final judgment, as it leaves claims on both side in the case.
- The October summary judgment order a 19-page order denying Brenia's CR 56(f) motion for extension, granting Laguna's second summary judgment motion, and "ruling on outstanding motions brought to the court's attention" states "all of [Brenia's] claims are dismissed with prejudice," reserves for "further motion or trial" Laguna's claims for damages from breach of contract, and provides that Laguna is "the substantially prevailing party in this lawsuit" entitled to fees and costs "to be determined" after further proof and argument. CP 12647-65. This order also is not a final judgment, leaving Laguna claims in the case.²
- The December order dismisses "without prejudice" Laguna's "remaining claims for damages" arising from their breach of contract claims. CP 13524. It does not mention fees. *Id.* The appellate court held this was the "final judgment." Op. at 16.

¹ The trial court's second summary judgment order did not actually dismiss numerous claims and parties that were not raised in Laguna's motion. *Supra*, Argument § B. This first argument, however, assumes – as the appellate court concluded – that all claims were dismissed. Op. at 16.

² Again, this order could not resolve claims and parties Laguna did not raise in its motion. *Supra*, Argument § B.

The appellate court purports to distinguish *Denney* on the bases that the October summary judgment order "in plain language dismissed all of Brenia's claims with prejudice," and the December order "in plain language dismissed all of Laguna's remaining claims with prejudice." Op .at 17. That is not a basis for distinguishing *Denney*, where the summary judgment order there — in plain language — "dismissed with prejudice "[a]ll [plaintiff's] claims and causes of action" 195 Wn.2d at 652.

The appellate court also noted that Brenia conceded Laguna had prevailed. Op. at 17. That too fails to distinguish *Denney*, whose summary judgment order plainly stated that the City was "the prevailing party." 195 Wn.2d at 652. And *Denney* cannot be distinguished based on Laguna's claim that the only thing left here was fees and costs, where the same was true in *Denney*. After summary judgment there, only costs remained. *Id.* at 652-53.

What is left is the appellate court's assertion that while the **Denney** order anticipated presentation of a final judgment, nothing in the October and December orders "directed entry of a separate final judgment." Op. at 17. But the parties here were already litigating fees before the court entered the December order and continued to

do so afterward, acknowledging along the way that a separate "final judgment" was still coming. *Id.*; CP 13710, 13714-19, 13733-36.

Here, as in **Denney**, the parties were bound by CR 54(e), so Laguna was tasked with preparing and presenting a proposed final judgment. Laguna did so, but waited until January 16, 2019, more than 30 days after the December order was entered. CP 13685. The court did not enter the findings until March 8 and did not enter the judgment until March 27. CP 13694-713, 13737-43. In the interim, numerous pleadings exchanged hands, and orders entered. See CP 13526-63, 13564-68, 13569-618, 13619-62, 13663-67, 13668-72, 13673-80, 13681-90, 13691-93. Twice Brenia pointed out that the trial court had not yet resolved certain Brenia claims, leaving "judicial" labor" before a final judgment could be entered.³ CP 13664 n.1, 13673-80. When the court finally entered the findings, it ordered that a "judgment shall be entered," stating "judgment shall be sent to the court." CP 13710. Laguna then moved to include even more fees in "the final judgment," and the court granted that motion, directing

³ The appellate court's assertion that Brenia too late asserted their remained unsettled claims in the case is irrelevant to whether **Denney** applies. Op. at 17. As above, Brenia believes there were unsettled claims in the case because the trial court could not dismiss claims on summary judgment that were not raised in the motion it was ruling on. But that goes to timeliness, not to an extension of time.

Laguna to "submit their form of final judgment to the Court." CP 13714-19, 13733-36. Again, the "final judgment" was entered on March 27, more than three months after the matter became final (per the appellate decision). *Compare* CP 13737 *with* Op. at 17. In sum, while there were two potentially "final" judgments in *Denney* – the summary judgment order and the judgment on costs – there are seven here: (1) the April summary judgment order (CP 1973-85); (2) the October summary judgment order (CP 12647-65); (3) the December order dismissing Laguna's remaining claims (CP 13522-25); (4) an order granting fees (CP 13691-93); (5) the findings and conclusions (CP 13694-713); (6) the order granting Laguna's motion to include fees in the final judgment (CP 13733-36); and (7) the final judgment on costs and fees. CP 13737-44.

This goes to the heart of this Court's holding in *Denney* that lawyers are not supposed to be "soothsayers" and multiple "final" orders are not supposed to be a trap. 195 Wn. 2d at 658-59. In *Denney*, a single order dismissed all claims, leaving only costs for a future final judgment, yet this Court found "confusion" sufficient to constitute extraordinary circumstances. 195 Wn.2d at 659. Here, it took three orders to resolve all legal claims, both sides understood the "final judgment" was forthcoming, and Laguna waited until after

the 30-day deadline had passed to propose it. Brenia's "confusion stemming from [these] multiple final judgments" is just as reasonable as in *Denney*. 195 Wn.2d at 658.

So holding would be consistent with other cases on this subject from this Court and the appellate court. Extraordinary circumstances also include delays in the mail and failure to appreciate a recent change to the RAPs. Scannell v. State, 128 Wn.2d 829, 834-35, 912 P.2d 489 (1996); *Moore v. Boardman*, 84 Wn.2d 408, 409, 413, 526 P.2d 893 (1974). Conversely, extraordinary circumstances do not include failing to implement office procedures to ensure proper case-tracking, or one attorney leaving the firm coupled with another's heavy workload. **Beckman v. DSHS**, 102 Wn. App. 687, 695-96, 11 P.3d 313 (2000); **Reichelt v. Raymark Indus., Inc.**, 52 Wn. App. 763, 765-66, 764 P.2d 653 (1988)). A delay in the mail (*Moore*) is "beyond the party's control," and "confusion" over a rule change (Scannell) or a court order (**Denney**) is "excusable error," but workload (**Reichelt**) and office procedures (**Beckman**) are not. See **Shumway**, 136 Wn.2d at 395-97. Brenia is not claiming it was too busy and understaffed (*Reichelt*) or failed to track the entry of a proposed order (**Beckman**). Rather, its point is that in the context of multiple orders combining to achieve "finality," followed by an exchange of pleadings and orders anticipating the future entry of a "final judgment," its "confusion" over when to appeal is as reasonable as it was in **Denney**.

In sum, this Court should accept review and enlarge time.

B. The appellate decision also conflicts with numerous cases limiting summary judgment disposition to those issues properly before the court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

The appellate court incorrectly held that the October order dismissed all remaining Brenia claims, bypassing Brenia's argument that the trial court may not dismiss claims that Laguna did not raise on summary judgment. Brenia timely appealed when the court later found it had dismissed claims Laguna never raised. Alternatively, this extraordinary decision is an additional basis to extend time.

The appellate court held that save for attorney fees, Brenia's appeal was untimely, where: (1) the October summary judgment order dismissed all Brenia's remaining claims; (2) the December order dismissed Laguna's remaining claims; (3) the December order was the "final judgment for purposes of RAP 2.2(a)(1)"; and (4) Brenia did not timely appeal that order. Op. at 16. This decision rests on language in the October order that Laguna was "entitled to judgment as a matter of law on all [Brenia's] claims, and all [Brenia's] claims are dismissed with prejudice." *Id.* (quoting CP 12653). The

court failed to address Brenia's argument that the trial court could not dismiss claims and parties that Laguna did not raise in its motion.

It is reversible error for the trial court to grant summary judgment on an issue not raised in the motion. R.D. Merrill Co. v. **Pollution Control Hearings Bd.**, 137 Wn.2d 118, 147, 969 P.2d 458 (1999); White v. Kent Med. Ctr., Inc., 61 Wn. App. 163, 168, 810 P.2d 4 (1991). In *R.D. Merrill Co.*, for example, R.D. Merrill applied to consolidate water rights for irrigation, domestic and stockwatering purposes as part of an effort to develop a cross-country ski resort. 137 Wn.2d at 123. As to one of R.D. Merrill's many applications, the Pollution Control Hearings Board granted partial summary judgment that the plaintiffs, the non-moving party, had the burden of establishing abandonment and relinquishment of irrigation rights, but failed to present sufficient evidence that water rights had not been used. Id. at 139, 146. This Court reversed, holding that since R.D. Merrill did not raise nonuse in its partial summary judgment motion, the issue was not before the Board, who erred in deciding it. *Id.*

This Court explained that while R.D. Merrill's summary judgment motion noted plaintiff's claims regarding abandonment and relinquishment, its "motion did not discuss whether nonuse occurred, and did not raise nonuse as an issue." *Id.* at 147. Rather. R.D. Merrill

sought summary judgment on the basis that two statutory exceptions applied, excusing any nonuse. *Id.* at 146-47.

This Court explained too that R.D. Merrill could not raise nonuse for the first time in its reply, where allowing it to do so would deny the non-moving party the opportunity to respond. *Id.* at 147 (citing *White*, 61 Wn. App. at 168). That the nonmoving party bore the burden of proof was irrelevant, as they "had no reason at all to provide evidence of nonuse" since R.D. Merrill did not raise it. *Id.* at 148. And this Court rejected R.D. Merrill's argument that the Board's error in considering nonuse was harmless, doubting seriously that a harmless error analysis would even apply. *Id.* at 148.

Similarly in *White*, the appellate court held that the trial court erred in addressing proximate cause on summary judgment, raised for the first time in the moving party's reply. 61 Wn. App. at 168. The court explained that CR 56(c), governing summary judgment proceedings, does not allow the moving party to raise issues at any time other than in its motion, and that allowing new issues in a reply is improper "because the nonmoving party has no opportunity to respond." *Id.* Rather, "it is incumbent upon the moving party to determine what issues are susceptible to resolution by summary

judgment, and to clearly state in its opening papers those issues upon which summary judgment is sought." *Id.* at 169.

Here, Laguna did not seek summary judgment on many of Brenia's counterclaims, so they were not before the trial court. In its second summary judgment motion, Laguna asked the court to: (1) dismiss Brenia's WSSA and fraud claims related to the original investment or TIC to LLC conversion; (2) rule that the second and third capital calls were enforceable as a matter of law; (3) dismiss as time barred all Brenia claims for fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, and improper maintenance; and (4) dismiss Brenia's construction defect claims. CP 3066. Laguna acknowledged that Brenia was in the process of preparing its proposed amended counterclaims, but filed anyway, assuming the court would approve them. CP 3062-96, 4214-44, 11211-22. Laguna's hasty approach created unnecessary confusion, as its motion did not align with Brenia's amended counterclaims. *Compare* CP 2649-725 with CP 3062-96.

Brenia did not state counterclaims for improper maintenance or construction defect (Laguna's 3 and 4). CP 2649-725. Laguna did not seek summary adjudication of Brenia's claims for unjust enrichment, accounting, CPA violations, or receivership. *Compare* CP 2649-725 with CP 3062-96. Brenia's amended counterclaims

also added new parties, to which Laguna's pending motion plainly did not pertain. CP 2045 n.8.

Brenia explained this disconnect, identifying and declining to address its counterclaims Laguna did not seek to summarily dismiss. CP 4214-44. In reply, Laguna did not disagree that many of Brenia's claims were not before the court. CP 11211-22.

This disconnect is reflected in the court's summary judgment order. CP 12647-65. As part of that order, the trial court ruled on Brenia's pending motion to amend its counterclaims and "deemed filed" 11 Brenia claims for: unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duties, accounting, WSSA violations in 2003 and 2012, fraudulent misrepresentation and Inducement in 2003 and 2012, CPA violations and related injunctive relief, and receivership. *Id.* The court dismissed as time-barred five Brenia claims for WSSA violations, fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty. *Id.* It did not mention Brenia's six remaining claims for unjust enrichment, accounting, CPA violations, or receivership, but later found that the October order dismissed these claims. *Id.*

The appellate court's holding that the October order dismissed all Brenia claims, including those Laguna did not raise, conflicts with *R.D. Merrill* and *White*. Op. at 16. The court ignored

Brenia's argument on this point. It states only that the October order dismissed the "bulk of Brenia's claims," where it stated "all" claims were dismissed with prejudice. *Id.* But "all" cannot refer to claims that Laguna did not raise, that Brenia expressly declined to address in response, and that the trial court did not mention.

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