FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/9/2021 11:42 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 99876-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAGUNA CREEK CALIFORNIA PARTNERS, LLC., a Washington limited liability company, et al.,

Respondents,

v.

BRENIA LAGUNA CREEK, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, et al.,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN, P.S.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Stephen P. VanDerhoef WSBA No. 20088

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

524 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104-2323 (206) 587-0700 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

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

D. Argument Why This Court Should Deny Review.

The Court of Appeals' discretionary decision to deny Brenia's request for RAP 18.8(b) relief is wholly consistent with well-settled law from this Court and the Court of Appeals. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The courts below properly rejected Brenia's contentions, both that it was "confused" by the trial court's unambiguous rulings dismissing all of its claims, and that those orders gave Brenia any reasonable basis to believe that anything remained unresolved but Laguna's attorney fees request when Brenia made its untimely motion for reconsideration, 107 days after entry of final judgment. Brenia does not take issue with the longstanding rule that a party must timely appeal a final judgment—the last dispositive merits ruling in a case—a principle that this Court recently reaffirmed in Denney. Nor does Brenia challenge the equally clear rule that an appeal from a fee award does not bring up for review the underlying substantive judgment. RAP 2.2(a)(1); RAP 2.4(b). The Court of Appeals' refusal to extend time for Brenia's appeal is entirely consistent with *Denney*, and with the established authority upon which the *Denney* Court relied. This Court should deny review.

1. Brenia did not require "the benefit of *Denney*" to confirm that the trial court had dismissed all its claims with prejudice and entered a final and appealable judgment, leaving unresolved only the amount of Laguna's fee award.

The Court of Appeals broke no new ground in holding that Brenia's appeal of the trial court's March 8, 2019 attorney fee award was untimely to bring up for review the trial court's decisions on the merits because the trial court entered final judgment when it dismissed the last remaining merits claim on December 12, 2018, and Brenia's "odd but inventive" untimely motion for reconsideration could not revive an otherwise untimely appeal. (Op. 13-14; CP 13712) The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision is not only entirely consistent with *Denney*, but faithfully adhered to a host of previous decisions on which this Court relied in *Denney*.

"[A] notice of appeal must be filed within . . . 30 days after entry of the decision of the trial court that the party filing the notice wants reviewed" or within 30 days of the entry of an order deciding a "timely. . . motion for reconsideration or new trial under CR 59." RAP 5.2(a), (e). This Court has strictly enforced the 30-day time limit for appealing a final judgment as "jurisdictional." *See, e.g., FutureSelect*

Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 190 Wn.2d 281, 291, ¶18, 413 P.3d 1 (2018); Cohen v. Stingl, 51 Wn.2d 866, 322 P.2d 873 (1958); see also, Schaefco v. Columbia River Gorge Com'n, 121 Wn.2d 366, 367-68, 849 P.2d 1225 (1993) (untimely motion for reconsideration does not toll time for filing notice of appeal).

Relying on the plain language of RAP 2.4(b), this Court in Denney ratified Court of Appeals decisions holding that "[a]n appeal from an attorney fee decision does not bring up for review a separate judgment on the merits unless a timely notice of appeal is filed from that judgment." 195 Wn.2d at 655, quoting Bushong v. Wilsbach, 151 Wn. App. 373, 377, 213 P.3d 42 (2009). See also Denney, 195 Wn.2d at 657, quoting Carrara, LLC v. Ron & E Enterprises, Inc., 137 Wn. App. 822, 826, 151 P.3d 161 (2007) (party may not "couch [its] appeal of [a] summary judgment order in its appeal of attorney fees."). See 2A Tegland, Washington Practice: Rules Practice RAP 2.4 (8th ed. 2014) ("counsel should appeal from the judgment on the merits, even if the issue of attorney fees is still pending.") (quoted as "sum[ming] up the practical lesson for appellants" in *Denney*, 195 Wn.2d at 655-56). And this Court in *Denney* reiterated the established rule that the "final judgment" is a "court's last action that settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy, except for the award of costs (and, sometimes, attorney's fees)," 195 Wn.2d at 653-54, quoting *State v. Taylor*, 150 Wn.2d 599, 602, 80 P.3d 605 (2003) and BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 847 (7th ed. 1999).

Brenia did not need "the benefit of *Denney*" (Pet. 7) to recognize that it was required to file its notice of appeal within 30 days of the trial court's last dispositive merits ruling. The Court of Appeals faithfully followed not just *Denney*, but settled precedent in holding that Brenia's March 29, 2019 notice of appeal of the trial court's fee judgment, "came months too late" (Op. 17) to bring up the merits decisions, because the December 12, 2018 order dismissing the sole remaining claims in the lawsuit was a final judgment.

2. Brenia was not "confused" by the trial court's unambiguous orders, which clearly dismissed all of its claims with prejudice.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Brenia's contention "that the trial court's orders created confusion" because "the trial court's October summary judgment order in plain language dismissed all of Brenia's claims with prejudice . . ." (Op. 17) It did not take a "soothsayer" (Pet. 11) to recognize that the trial court's orders dismissing both parties' remaining claims left nothing but fees for resolution and was final and appealable. Indeed, Brenia

expressly acknowledged the case was over in December 2018, when Brenia both admitted Laguna was the "prevailing party" (CP 13206) and filed its own motion for attorney fees relating to an earlier discovery dispute. (CP 13569-73)

As the Court of Appeals noted (Op.17), the plaintiff in *Denney* failed to timely appeal a summary judgment order that not only dismissed all his claims, but expressly stated "Defendant City of Richland is the prevailing party herein and may present judgment accordingly." 195 Wn.2d at 652. The City presented a conforming proposed judgment within three days, but it was not entered until the 30th day following the summary judgment of dismissal. This Court granted Denney relief under RAP 18.8(b) because while his notice of appeal of the summary judgment was untimely, Denney acted in reasonable reliance on the trial court's direction for entry of a subsequent "judgment" under CR 54: "Denney's counsel interpreted the March judgment, entered in accordance with CR 54, to be the final judgment from which to appeal, waiting for presentation of the proposed order and appealing after the judgment was signed." 195 Wn.2d at 659.

The Court of Appeals properly held that "Brenia does not benefit from the same confusion found in *Denney*" because the trial

court "in plain language dismissed all of Brenia's claims . . . [,] dismissed all of Laguna's remaining claims . . . [and n]othing in either order directed entry of a separate final judgment." (Op. 17) Further, Brenia "conceded that Laguna had prevailed," expressly recognizing that the only remaining issue was the award of fees to Laguna as the prevailing party. (Op. 17) And unlike the plaintiff in Denney, Brenia never manifested any indication that the trial court's orders contemplated entry of a formal judgment under CR 54.

Cognizant that Judge Roger's October 26, 2018 order expressly stated that "all claims" "are dismissed with prejudice" (CP 12652), Brenia now argues that "the trial court could not dismiss claims . . . that Laguna did not raise in its motion." (Pet. 14, citing White v. Kent Med. Ctr., Inc., P.S., 61 Wn. App. 163, 168-69, 810 P.2d 4 (1991) and R. D. Merrill Co. v. State, Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 137 Wn.2d 118, 147, 969 P.2d 458, 473 (1999)). Both White and Merrill stand for the unremarkable proposition that a party cannot raise a new basis for summary judgment for the first time in a reply

⁵ Brenia misstates those claims addressed by Judge Rogers' 17-page October 26, 2018 order. (Pet. 16-17) For instance, Judge Rogers expressly rejected Brenia's claims alleging Laguna failed to disclose facts or conditions related to the physical integrity or construction of the Project because Brenia expressly agreed that they were purchasing the property "AS IS" (CP 12653), and in its order authorizing amendment held that Brenia's claim for receivership is "a remedy that is typically discussed only after one party prevails on an issue or claim." (CP 2647)

rather than in the initial motion. Here, however, just days after Brenia asserted its non-conforming second amended answer (CP 2649-2725), Laguna moved to dismiss *all* of Brenia's claims in its summary judgment motion, regardless whether Judge Rogers had authorized those claims or barred them in his July 23rd order. (CP 2647, 3065, n.2) Brenia then addressed *all* its claims in its response. (CP 4231-36)⁶ As Judge Rogers found, "At argument and in briefing, the Plaintiffs made it clear that they moved for summary judgment assuming all the amended claims were properly brought, and the Court ruled on this basis." (CP 13712, n.1)

Brenia, which did not appear for trial and conceded Laguna had prevailed, was not, nor could it have been, confused by the trial court's orders expressly dismissing all its claims with prejudice.

3. The Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion in refusing to extend the time for Brenia's appeal under RAP 18.8(b).

The Court of Appeals did not abuse its discretion under RAP 18.8(b) in denying Brenia's untimely appeal. Brenia's failure to

⁶ Brenia conceded that many of those counterclaims, including those for unjust enrichment, CPA, and an accounting, were a mere "continuation" of previous claims or "companion" causes of action based on the same facts as asserted in other claims. (CP 4231-36) Laguna in its summary judgment reply reiterated that "all [Brenia's] current claims" failed (CP 11214) because they "are either time-barred, barred by the relevant contracts, or fail to meet statutory requirements." (CP 11217)

timely appeal was not due to "extraordinary circumstances," and allowing an untimely appeal is not necessary to "prevent a gross miscarriage of justice." RAP 18.8(b).

Our courts have consistently adhered to the RAP 18.8(b)'s clear warning that "[t]he appellate court will ordinarily hold that the desirability of finality of decisions outweighs the privilege of a litigant to obtain an extension of time under this section." Brenia's failure to timely appeal was not due to excusable neglect, such as "delays in the mail," *Moore v. Burdman*, 84 Wn.2d 408, 409, 526 P.2d 893 (1974), a pro se party's "failure to appreciate a recent change to the RAPs," *Scannell v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 829, 834-35, 912 P.2d 489 (1996) (Pet. 12), or any other extraordinary circumstance. Nor was an extension necessary "to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice," RAP 18.8(b), as Judge Rogers in a 17-page order thoroughly and thoughtfully addressed all 72 pages of Brenia's amended counterclaims and granted summary judgment because its claims were both untimely and refuted by the parties' unambiguous agreements.

-

⁷ See, e.g., Futureselect, 190 Wn.2d at 294-94, ¶ 25; Marriage of Orate, 11 Wn. App.2d 807, 814, ¶ 26, 455 P.3d 1158 (2020); State, Dep't of Social and Health Servs. v. Fox, 192 Wn. App. 512, 371 P.3d 537 (2016); Beckman v. State, Dep't of Social and Health Servs., 102 Wn. App. 687, 11 P.3d 313 (2000).

RAP 18.8(b)'s requirement of "extraordinary circumstances ... to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice" necessarily vests discretion in the appellate court. Brenia's insistence that this Court engage in a de novo review of the Court of Appeals' assessment of the specific facts of this case would substantially undermine the appellate rule's stated policy of finality, encouraging review by this Court whenever the Court of Appeals exercises its discretion to grant (or deny) an extension of time. The consequences of ignoring RAP 18.8(b)'s "desirability of finality" are manifest here, where Brenia has now delayed for more than four years Laguna's efforts to expeditiously remove Brenia's cloud on the Property's title after Laguna obtained injunctive and declaratory relief in 2017, and Brenia then engaged not just the appellate court commissioner, but a merits panel, to consider its motion to extend the time to appeal.

The Court of Appeals carefully considered not just the plain language of Judge Rogers' orders, but the entire history of this litigation, including Brenia's pattern of "violating or ignoring local (and state) rules on filing, page limits, time deadlines, etc. and asking for forgiveness later, or not at all." (CP 12656; see Op. 10-12). It determined, based on Brenia's own conduct, that Brenia's failure to appeal was not due to confusion or any extraordinary circumstances,

but was yet another instance of Brenia seeking "to bring claims that were either dismissed or have since become untimely." (Op. 18) The Court of Appeals' careful exercise of its discretion is well-supported by established law, presents no ground for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), and would undermine, not further, the public interest in the finality of judgments. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

4. Laguna should be awarded its fees on appeal.

The Court of Appeals granted Laguna's request for appellate fees against the individual and LLC Brenia investors. (Op.21-22) Laguna is also entitled to its attorney fees in this Court. RAP 13.4(j).

E. Conclusion.

The Court should deny review and award Laguna its fees.